# **RECEIVED**

02-12-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 4

Appeal No. 2014AP2813-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
vs.

JEFFREY P. LEPSCH, Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE LACROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RAMONA G. GONZALEZ PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone), Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

# **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Is Lepsch entitled to a new trial because 1)trial court improperly administered oath to jury venire; 2)jury was not impartial under both state and federal law; 3)trial court deprived Lepsch of due process and right to impartial jury by arbitrarily depriving Lepsch of right to receive proper number of peremptory strikes, right to full use of peremptory strikes, and right to have biased jurors removed; and 4)Lepsch received ineffective assistance of counsel?

The trial court answered no.

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel would welcome oral argument should this Court determine that such argument would be helpful in addressing the issues presented in this brief.

Counsel believes that publication will be warranted as this appeal involves two issues of statewide importance which have not yet been resolved by this Court or the Wisconsin Supreme Court: one, can the oath required to be administered to the jury venire by the circuit court under Wis. State. Sec. 805.08 properly be administered by a clerk outside the presence of the defendant and in a "jury assembly room" rather than by the circuit court

judge in the actual courtroom in the presence of the defendant; and two, does Wisconsin law regarding jury bias comport with the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment requirement that in order to be impartial, a prospective juror must provide "unequivocal assurances" of impartiality.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Lepsch with two counts of first degree intentional homicide, armed robbery, and felon in possession of a firearm. A-Ap.100-102. The case originated from the robbery of a LaCrosse camera shop during which the shop's owner and his son were shot and killed. A-Ap.100-102.

The case proceeded to a five day jury trial wherein the jury found Lepsch guilty of all charges. A-Ap.103. At sentencing, the trial court sentenced Lepsch to consecutive terms of life imprisonment without any term of extended supervision for each homicide charge, 25 years confinement/15 years extended supervision on the armed robbery charge, and 5 years confinement/5 years extended supervision on the felon in possession of a firearm charge. A-Ap.103-104. Lepsch timely filed a notice of intent to

pursue postconviction relief pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed the undersigned counsel. By and through counsel, Lepsch filed a motion for new trial which asserted all issues raised in this appeal. After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied the motion. A-Ap.328-348. These proceedings follow.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts relevant to this appeal are extensive as they relate to the voir dire of 14 different prospective jurors. In the interest of a logical and meaningful presentation of such facts, Lepsch references all relevant facts below with specific reference to the record and/or to this brief's appendix.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Lepsch is entitled to a new trial because the trial court's administration of the oath to the jury venire outside Lepsch's presence violated Lepsch's rights to be present at a critical stage in the proceeding, to receive a public trial and to receive a trial by a jury properly sworn to be impartial as guaranteed by the 6<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

#### A. Standard of review

A reviewing court evaluates constitutional issues independently of the determinations rendered by the circuit court. See **State v. Harvey**, 139 Wis. 2d 353,382, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987).

B. Trial court's administration of the oath to the jury venire outside Lepsch's presence violated Lepsch's rights to be present at a critical stage in the proceeding, to receive a public trial, and to receive a trial by a jury properly sworn to be impartial.

Both federal and state law require that prospective jurors take an oath as part of the jury selection process. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution requires that a prospective juror swear that he or she can set aside any opinion he or she might hold and decide the case on the evidence. See **Oswald v. Bertrand**, 249 F.Supp.2d 1078, 1103 (E.D. Wis. 2003), affirmed 374 F.3d 475 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004). A juror does not meet the federal standard for being "impartial" unless he or she makes such a swearing. **Id**. Similarly, Wis. Stat. Sec. 805.08 provides in relevant part:

The court *shall examine on oath* each person who is called as a juror to discover whether the juror...has expressed or formed any opinion, or is aware of any bias or prejudice in the case. If a juror is not indifferent in the case, the juror shall be excused. Italics added.

In recognition of this duty, the Wisconsin Judicial Bench Book, Criminal and Traffic, 2013, advises trial court judges to "Give panel oath before voir dire examination," and recommends the following:

"Do you and each of you solemnly swear (or affirm) that you will true answers make to such questions as shall be put to you touching on your qualifications to act as jurors in the pending case, so help you God?" CR 23-4 (2013).

In this case, LaCrosse County Clerk of Court Pam Radtke administered the oath to the jury in a "jury assembly room" before the prospective jurors moved into the actual courtroom. 189:14. Neither Lepsch nor trial counsel were present for the administration of the oath. 188:155. The administration of the oath in such a fashion has apparently been standard practice in LaCrosse County for "many years." 200:2-3.

Although it may be standard local practice for the clerk to administer the oath in such manner, such practice is problematic and actually unlawful for a number of reasons. As an initial matter, Section 805.08 does not authorize the clerk to administer the oath. In fact, Section 805.08 uses mandatory language in specifying that "The *court shall* examine on oath..." the prospective jurors. See Wis. Stat. Sec. 805.08. Italics added. The Judicial Bench Book, as referenced above, similarly contemplates that it is the court that must administer the oath. The requirement that the court rather than the

clerk administer the oath makes sense when we consider the various constitutional problems that materialize when, as in this case, the court does not administer the oath to the prospective jurors in the courtroom in the presence of the defendant. First, because the voir dire process is a "critical stage" in the criminal proceeding, Lepsch, like all defendants, had a right under both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions to be present with See State v. Tulley, 2001 WI App 236,¶ 248 Wis.2d 505, 635 counsel. N.W.2d 807; **State v. Harris**, 229 Wis.2d 832, 601 N.W.2d 682 (Ct. App. 1999); Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.04(c). Lepsch specifically had a right to be present "at all proceedings when the jury is being selected." See State v. Harris, supra, p.839. As noted above, Wis. Stat. Sec. 805.08 mandates that a trial court "examine on oath" each prospective juror to discover whether the juror has expressed or formed any opinion, or is aware of any bias or prejudice in the case. Under State v. Harris, "all proceedings when the jury is being selected" logically includes the administration of the oath to the prospective jurors. After all, the juror's oath is an integral element of a defendant's fundamental right to have his guilt decided by an impartial jury. See **State v. Block,** 170 Wis.2d 676, 680, 489 N.W.715 (Ct. App. 1992). Lepsch, like all defendants, therefore had a constitutional interest in ensuring that the trial court properly administered the oath to the prospective jurors and that all prospective jurors did in fact swear or affirm as required by Section 805.08 and federal law. In order to protect such interest, Lepsch had to be present for the oath given to and taken by the prospective jurors; he was not. Second, the administration of the oath in the "jury assembly room" violated Lesch's right to a public trial. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides an accused the right to a public trial. Pino/State v. Seaton, 2014 WI 74,¶40, 356 Wis.2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207 citing Presley v. Georgia, 558 U. S. 209, 212, 1305 S.Ct. 721, 175 L.Ed.2d 675 (2010). The right to a public trial includes voir dire. **Id.** at ¶43 citing **Presley** 558 U.S. at 213. The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that a violation of the public trial right is a defect that is structural in nature. U.S. v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 148-49, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409 (2006); Neder v. U. S. 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999); Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991); Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 49-50, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984). A structural error or defect taints the entire framework of the trial and is not subject to the harmless error analysis.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wisconsin Constitution Article I, Section 7 also provides a defendant the right to public trial.

**Arizona v. Fulminante**, 499 U.S. at 309-310. In this case, a crucial part of the voir dire proceeding, the administration of the oath, was not made part of Lepsch's public trial. To satisfy Lepsch's right to a public trial, the entire voir dire process, including the administration of the oath, should have occurred in the courtroom in the presence of Lepsch, trial counsel and the public at large. As discussed above, it did not. Lepsch is aware that the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that a defendant may forfeit his right to a public trial under circumstances where the defendant is aware that the judge has excluded the public from the courtroom and the defendant fails to object to the judge's decision to do so. See State v. Pinno/ State v. Seaton, 2014 WI 74 at ¶7. Such is not the case here. At no time during the proceedings did the trial court inform Lepsch that the oath to the prospective jurors would be administered in the "jury assembly room" by the clerk rather than the judge in open court. Unlike the defendants in Pinno/Seaton, Lepsch never received notice of a possible infringement on his public trial right. For this reason, the forfeiture exception carved out in **State v. Pinno/Seaton** does not apply here. Finally, the defect or error in the manner in which prospective jurors took their oath or were "sworn," compromised whether the jurors selected could be considered "impartial." As will be more fully examined later in this

brief, Lepsch maintains that he did not receive a trial by an "impartial" jury, as required by the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment and Article I, Section 7, because of certain biases held by many of the jurors. Before examining whether such biases precluded the jurors from being "impartial," the failure of the jurors to be properly sworn precluded them from being considered "impartial." Under federal law, a juror must *swear* that he or she can set aside any opinion he or she might hold and decide the case on the evidence. **Oswald v. Bertrand**, supra. As discussed earlier, Wisconsin law also requires that jurors make a certain oath as part of the process by which they show themselves to be "indifferent." If the oath has been administered in a defective or erroneous fashion, which it was in this case, then the jurors cannot properly be considered "impartial" under the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment or Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

C. Trial counsel's failure to ensure that the trial court properly administered the oath to the jury venire in Lepsch's presence constituted ineffective assistance of counsel

Under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), a defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must show that counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. **Strickland**, 466 U.S. at 687. To meet the deficiency prong, the defendant must show that counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. **State v. Thiel**, 2003 WI 111, ¶19, 264 Wis.2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. Prejudice exists when "counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." **State** v. Johnson, 133 Wis.2d 207, 222, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986) (quoting **Strickland**, 466 U.S. at 687). Trial counsel was deficient in failing to ensure that prospective jurors were properly sworn as part of the voir dire process. In support of this allegation, Lepsch would incorporate herein by reference the specific arguments set forth above in Section B. In general, trial counsel failed to take steps to safeguard Lepsch's rights to be present at a "critical stage" of the proceeding, to receive a public trial and to receive a trial by an impartial jury. In terms of prejudice, this Court should find that prejudice exists as a matter of law or otherwise presume prejudice

given that the failure to properly administer the oath to prospective jurors amounted to structural error. As discussed in the above section, a violation of a defendant's public trial right is structural error. See U.S. v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 148-49; Neder v. U. S. 527 U.S. at 8 (1999); Arizona v. Fulimante, 499 U.S. at 310; and Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. at 49-50. So too is a violation of the right to trial by an impartial jury. See Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d 453, 463 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) citing Johnson v. Armontrout, 961 F.2d 748, 756 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992) and Arizona v. Fulimante, 499 U.S. at 309. Given the structural nature of the violations, prejudice is presumed. See Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d at 463.

II. Lepsch is entitled to a new trial because the trial court seated jurors who failed to provide "unequivocal assurances" that they could set aside prior opinions and return a verdict based solely on the evidence as required by the 6<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments to the United States Constitution, and who were subjectively and objectively biased under Wisconsin law.

#### A. Standard of review

Whether a jury was impartial for purposes of the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment is a mixed question which involves application of constitutional principles to facts as

found by the trial court. See **Irwin v. Dowd**, 366 U.S. 717,723, 81 S.Ct. 1639, 6 L.Ed.2d 751 (1961). Similarly, under Wisconsin law, in analyzing a Sixth Amendment claim, a reviewing court applies constitutional principles to historical facts. See **State v. Ndina**, 2009 WI 21, ¶45, 315 Wis.2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. The reviewing court upholds the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. See **id.** The reviewing court determines the application of constitutional principles to those evidentiary or historical facts independently of the circuit court but benefiting from that court's analysis. See **id.** 

Under Wisconsin law, a circuit court's factual findings that a prospective juror is or is not subjectively biased is subject to a clearly erroneous standard. **State v. Faucher**, 227 Wis.2d 700, 718, 596 N.W.2d 770 (1999). Factual findings that a prospective juror is or is not objectively biased are also subject to a clearly erroneous standard. **Id.** at 720. A reviewing court gives weight to a circuit's court conclusion that a prospective juror is or is not objectively biased and will reverse such conclusion only if as a matter of law a reasonable judge could not have reached such conclusion. **Id**. at 720-721.

In this case, the trial court, both at trial and as part of the decision and order on Lepsch's postconviction motion, A-Ap.328-348, failed to make any specific factual findings pertaining to the impartiality or biases of each of the prospective jurors at issue. As such, Lepsch maintains that the trial court made no factual findings to which this Court can defer and that this Court must ultimately conduct an independent review. To the extent that the circuit court's decision and order, A-Ap.328-348, can be interpreted as making specific factual findings, for the reasons discussed below, such findings were clearly erroneous.

B. Test for juror impartiality under the  $6^{th}$  Amendment requires juror to provide "unequivocal assurances" that he or she can set aside prior opinions and return a verdict based solely on the evidence.

The United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to an impartial jury. U.S. Constitution, Amendment VI. The Fourteenth Amendment guarantees a right to a jury in all state criminal cases which, if tried in a federal court, would come within the Sixth Amendment's guarantee of trial by jury. **Oswald v. Bertrand**, 249 F.Supp.2d at 1090. The right to an impartial tribunal is one of the handful of rights of a criminal defendant that is

not subject to the doctrine of harmless error. Oswald v. Bertrand, 374 F.3d If any one member of a jury is not impartial and would be unable at p.482. to render a fair verdict, then the jury cannot be considered impartial. Oswald v. Bertrand, 249 F.Supp.2d at 1090 and 1097. Finally, even if there is no showing of actual bias, due process is denied by circumstances that create the likelihood or the appearance of bias. **Id**. To be impartial, a juror must be able to lay aside his impression or opinion and render a verdict based on the evidence presented in court. Id. at 1103. Under the Sixth Amendment, a juror's impartiality is determined by the following test: did the "juror swear that he could set aside any opinion he might hold and decide the case on the evidence, and should the juror's protestation of impartiality have been believed. **Id**. at 1103. The Seventh Circuit has made clear that jurors who are unable to give *unequivocal assurances* that they can relinquish their prior beliefs and decide the case solely on the evidence must be removed for cause. **Id** citing **Thompson v. Altheimer & Grav**, 248 F.3d 621,626 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001); italics added.; see also, Marshall v. City of Chicago, 762 F.3d 573, 576 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2014). Doubts regarding bias must be resolved against the juror. See Oswald v. Bertrand, 249 F.Supp.2d at 1104. The rule that a juror may not be found to be impartial unless he can provide *unequivocal assurances* that he

is able to lay aside his opinion and render a verdict based solely on the evidence is a federal constitutional requirement and Wisconsin courts are not free to disregard or dilute it. See Oswald v. Bertrand, 249 F.Supp.2d at 1105. When a trial court is confronted with a biased juror, the trial court has a sua sponte obligation to dismiss the prospective juror for cause. United States v. Torres, 128 F.3d 38, 43 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1997) citing Frazier v. United States, 335 U.S. 497,511, 69 S.Ct. 201, 93 L.Ed. 187 (1948). Italics added. The sua sponte obligation on the part of the trial court is significant because it means that the State cannot use trial counsel's failure to object to or challenge a certain juror as part of a waiver or forfeiture based argument. Amendment requirements apply regardless of whether blame for a biased jury is assigned to counsel or the court who ultimately share the voir dire responsibility of removing biased venirepersons. Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d at 463. When a defendant fails to object to the qualifications of a juror, he is without remedy only if he fails to prove actual bias. See **Johnson** v. Armontrout, 961 F.2d at 754. Actual bias is 'bias in fact'—the existence of a state of mind that leads to an inference that the person will not act with entire impartiality. Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d at 463 citing United **States v. Torres**, 128 F.3d at 43. If a defendant shows that jurors were actually biased, the conviction must be set aside. Johnson v. Armontrout, 961 F.2d at 754. If a court mistakenly seats a juror who should have been struck for cause, the error is a structural one and a new trial is required. **Gray v. Mississippi**, 481 U.S. 648, 107 S.Ct. 2045, 95 L.Ed.2d 622 (1987) It is important to note that **Oswald v. Bertrand** began as an appeal to this Court involving a claim of juror bias.<sup>2</sup> Although this Court denied the appeal, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin, affirmed by the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals, granted habeas corpus relief. The federal courts specifically rejected this Court's reliance on "something less than an equivocal statement" as a basis for a finding of juror impartiality. See Oswald v. Bertrand, 249 F.Supp.2d at 1105. Of course, this Court's rejection of the need for "unequivocal assurances" was based on Wisconsin Supreme Court precedent. See State v. Erickson, 227 Wis.2d 758, 776, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999); **State v. Faucher**, 227 Wis.2d 700, 731, note 8, 596 N.W.2d 770 (1999); State v. Kiernan, 227 Wis.2d 736, 750 at note 10, 596 N.W.2d 760 (1999); and **State v Lindell**, 2001 WI 108, ¶100, 245 Wis.2d 689, 629 N.W.2d 223. Given the federal jurisprudence which requires that jurors provide "unequivocal assurances" in order to be

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> **State v. Theodore Oswald**, 2000 WI App 2, 232 Wis.2d 62, 606 N.W.2d 207.

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