RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-21-2016**

IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2014AP2813-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY P. LEPSCH,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RAMONA G. GONZALEZ, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLELMENTAL APPENDIX

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Lepsch, 2015 WL 7287026, ¶ 15 (quoting *Lindell*, 245 Wis. 2d 689, ¶ 101) (emphasis added). (R-App. 109.)

This Court's caselaw therefore does not "dilute" United State's Supreme Court caselaw. It *follows* United State's Supreme Court caselaw. The *Erickson* case does as well.

In *Erickson*, this Court stated that "a prospective juror need not respond to voir dire questions with unequivocal declarations of impartiality." Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d at 776. Rather, this Court expects a trial court "to use voir dire to explore a prospective juror's fears, biases, and predilections and fully expect a juror's honest answers at times to be less than unequivocal." Id. (citing State v. Ferron, 219 Wis. 2d 481, 507, 579 N.W. 2d 654, abrogated on other grounds by State v. Lindell, 2001 WI 108, 245 Wis. 2d 689, 629 N.W.2d 223) (Geske, J., dissenting)³. Erickson recognized that the trial court, "being able to fully observe the prospective juror during voir dire, is in a far superior position to ascertain bias than is an appellate court whose only link to the voir dire is through the 'bare words on a transcript' of the proceedings." 227 Wis. 2d at 775. Both Lindell and Erickson reflect that when spoken, a trial court is able to hear a juror's voice and volume, any hesitation or inflections, and this court is also able to witness a juror's nonverbal actions.

Faucher also adheres to *Patton*, in which this Court stated that a "prospective juror's subjective bias will only be revealed through his or her demeanor," and that "a prospective juror need not unambiguously state his or her ability to set aside a bias." 227 Wis. 2d at 718, 731 n.8 (citation omitted). Likewise, *State v. Kiernan*, 227 Wis. 2d 736, 746, 596 N.W. 2d 760 (1999), does not violate *Patton*, as it provides that "subjective bias is based on the juror's responses and demeanor at voir dire. Even with a transcript, an appellate court is at a disadvantage to gauge subjective bias because the demeanor and sincerity of the juror are difficult to convey in the paper record of a proceeding.")

³ In *Ferron*, a prospective juror "continued to express his belief that criminal defendants who elect not to testify on their own behalf are guilty." 219 Wis. 2d at 500. The record reflected that the juror stated he could "probably" set aside his bias. *See id.* at 501. The *Ferron* Court made clear that "[t]here are no magical words that need be spoken by the prospective juror, and the juror need not affirmatively state that he or she can 'definitely' set the bias aside." *Id.*

And in this case, the postconviction court explained that, based on its position of observing the jurors, it was convinced that each juror was (1) able to put aside any potential subjective bias and (2) decide the case based solely on the evidence (A-App. 337; *see* Lepsch Br. 13, 29, arguing that "under *Patton*, [a juror] had to 1) swear that he or she could set aside such beliefs or opinions, and 2) swear that he or she could decide the case on the evidence."). The record supports this conclusion.

In sum, the court's decision-making, taking into account jurors' demeanor and "making its assessment of a person's sincerity and ability to be fair" (200:9; A-App. 263), is allowed under both *Patton* and Wisconsin caselaw. Because the court's determination as to subjective bias was not clearly erroneous (*see Faucher*, 227 Wis. 2d at 718), and its determination as to objective bias was reasonable (*see id.* at 719), this Court should not disturb those determinations.⁴

⁴ Lepsch also argues the Seventh Circuit provides that a juror must provide "unequivocal assurances," citing Marshall v. City of Chicago, 762 F.3d 573, 576 (7th Cir. 2014), United States v. Allen, 605 F.3d 461, 466 (7th Cir. 2010), and Thompson v. Altheimer & Gray, 248 F.3d 621, 626 (7th Cir. 2001). But this Court has recognized that the Seventh Circuit is not binding: "Although we may of course seek guidance in the persuasive authority of other jurisdictions, only United States Supreme Court interpretations of federal law are binding on this court. Alberte v. Anew Health Care Servs., Inc., 2000 WI 7, ¶ 7, 232 Wis. 2d 587, 605 N.W.2d 515 (citing State v. Webster, 114 Wis. 2d 418, 426 n. 4, 338 N.W.2d 474 (1983). See also Madison Teachers, Inc. v. Walker, 2014 WI 99, ¶ 68, 358 Wis. 2d 1, 851 N.W.2d 337, reconsideration denied, 2015 WI 1, ¶ 68, 360 Wis. 2d 178, 857 N.W.2d 620 (providing that Seventh Circuit caselaw is not binding on this Court).

III. Lepsch fails to show the "appearance" of bias or that the trial court conducted an "insufficient inquiry" to ensure an impartial jury.

Lepsch next argues that his due process rights were violated by circumstances that created the "likelihood or appearance of bias." (Lepsch Br. 32.) According to Lepsch, to avoid the appearance of bias, the trial court should have "examined each of [the nine jurors] more fully[.]" (Lepsch Br. 36.)

The court of appeals rejected this argument, concluding that the record did not indicate *any* juror was subjectively or objectively biased, and that "because each of the jurors expressed the ability to remain impartial at trial, we conclude that none of the jurors exhibited *the appearance* of bias." *Lepsch*, 2015 WL 7287026, ¶ 9 n.4. (R-App. 106) (emphasis added).

But Lepsch argues that "the jury selection process was fast and short especially considering the gravity of the charges and the extent of the pre-trial publicity." (Lepsch Br. 36.) Yet the trial court was well aware of pre-trial publicity. As the postconviction court recognized:

The court and both parties were aware that this case was going to be well-known in the community long before the trial ever began. For that exact reason, *the court took extra precaution to ensure an impartial jury*, beyond what it would do for most jury trials. The extensive questionnaire sent out to the jurors was used to eliminate 24 jurors who exhibited a bias indicating they could not sit as objective jurors, before they ever reported for jury duty and by the agreement of both parties. After those potential jurors had been eliminated, the potential jurors who reported were brought into the courtroom one at a time. They were questioned by the court and both parties regarding pretrial publicity, their ability to decide the case only on the evidence presented, and about any potentially problematic answers on their questionnaire.

(200:6-7; A-App. 260-61.)

Lepsch fails to show the appearance of bias. He is not entitled to relief on this claim.

IV. Whether the clerk's administration of the oath to the jury venire, which was made outside of Lepsch's presence, violated his right to a public trial.

The jury venire was sworn prior to the beginning of voir dire. Neither Lepsch nor his attorney was present, and the clerk, as opposed to the trial judge, administered the oath. (189:14.).⁵ The jury venire did, however, sign an oath on their jury questionnaire (*see, i.e.,* A-App. 142.), and the court provided the jury *panel* an oath before trial. (207:4.)

⁵ As Lepsch points out, Wis. Stat. § 805.08(1) provides that the "court shall examine on oath each person who is called as a juror" (emphasis added). Wisconsin Stat. § 756.001(5) provides that judges may delegate responsibility for administering the jury system to the clerk of the circuit court. Where delegation occurs, the clerk is responsible to "select and manage juries under the policies and rules established by the judges in that circuit." Wis. Stat. § 756.001(5). The postconviction court noted: "In this case, and, in fact, in every jury case in this county for many years, La Clerk of Circuit Court Pamela Crosse County Radtke administered the oath, required by Wis. Stat. § 805.08(1), to the prospective jurors before bringing them into the courtroom." (A-App. 256-57.)

A. Lepsch has forfeited this issue.

As the State argued in the court of appeals, Lepsch never raised this issue at trial, and so it is deemed forfeited. Relying on *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, the court of appeals agreed. *Lepsch*, 2015 WL 7287026, \P 6. (R-App. 103-04.)

In *Pinno*, this Court held that claims of constitutional errors, even structural errors such as denial of the right to a public trial, may be deemed forfeited if a timely objection is not made. 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶¶ 7-8. This Court explained that "[i]t would be inimical to an efficient judicial system if a defendant could sit on his hands and try his luck" with trial despite the structural error "only to argue after his conviction" that his constitutional rights had been violated. *See id.* ¶ 7. *See also State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶10-11 & n.2, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (providing that the forfeiture rule gives the parties and court notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection). The court of appeals in this case found "no basis to deviate from that rule here." *Lepsch*, 2015 WL 7287026, ¶ 6. (R-App. 104.)

The court also noted that Lepsch did "not develop an argument distinguishing the claimed structural errors in this case from the errors in *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶¶ 83-86, which were deemed not to give rise to a presumption of prejudice." *Id.* ¶ 8. (R-App. 105.) It declined to extend "the rare presumption of prejudice to the claimed errors in this case." *Id.*

The court of appeals also rejected Lepsch's claim that he had no notice as to the manner in which the oath had been administered: "Clearly, Lepsch was aware at the time of the jury voir dire that the oath had not been administered to the jury venire in his presence in open court." *Lepsch*, 2015 WL 7287026, ¶6. (R-App. 103-04.) Yet Lepsch's attorney made no inquiry about the administration of the oath to the jury. Had Lepsch's attorney believed that the oath was not properly administered, an objection would have easily remedied the problem. The court of appeals also noted that Lepsch did not dispute that the jury venire was, in fact, properly administered the oath. Lepsch, 2015 WL 7287026, ¶ 7. (R-App. 104.) Rather, his argument was limited that his rights were violated because the oath was not administered in his presence in an open courtroom. With that claim, the court of appeals found that Lepsch did not develop a persuasive argument that his claims of constitutional violations are not subject to forfeiture under *Pinno*.

The State agrees. Lepsch has forfeited his arguments on this issue and there is no basis to deviate from the forfeiture rule in this case. He is not entitled to relief on this claim.

B. Even if Lepsch did not forfeit this issue, he loses on the merits because the administration of the oath to the jury venire is not part of voir dire within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(c).

Even if this Court disagrees with the State and the court of appeals. Lepsch's claim fails on the merits. Lepsch argues that under State v. Harris, 229 Wis. 2d 832, 839, 601 N.W.2d 682 (Ct. Ap. 1999), his right to be present at "all proceedings when the jury is being selected" includes the administration of the oath to prospective jurors. (Lepsch Br. 40). But *Harris* was decided under a prior version of Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(c) (1995-96), which provided that a defendant shall be present "[a]t all proceedings when the jury is being selected." Wisconsin Stat. § 971.04(1)(c) (2013-14) now provides that a defendant shall be present "[d]uring voir dire of the trial by jury." Therefore, the State submits that the appropriate inquiry is the following: whether the administration of the oath to the jury venire is part of "voir dire" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(c)? The State submits that it is not.

Whether the administration of the oath to the jury venire is part of "voir dire" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(c) presents a question of law. See State v. Gribble, 2001 WI App. 227, ¶ 13, 248 Wis. 2d 409, 636 N.W.2d 488 (providing, "[w]hether the trial court's questioning here of the prospective jurors on hardship and infirmity reasons for not serving is a critical stage of the trial under the constitutional standard presents a question of law, which we review de novo.").

Gribble provides guidance on this issue. In that case, the trial court questioned jurors outside of the defendant's presence on whether "they had reasons of hardship or infirmity for not being able to serve as jurors." 248 Wis. 2d 409, \P 7. The defendant argued that this violated his constitutional and statutory right to be present "at every critical stage of the proceedings." Id. ¶ 10. The postconviction court ruled that his rights had not been violated because its questioning was "part of the court's administrative duties." Id. The court of appeals disagreed. It held that "[t]his type of questioning by the court does not implicate the purposes of voir dire that are the premise for a defendant's constitutional entitlement to be present with counsel." Gribble, 248 Wis. 2d 409, ¶ 16. The Gribble Court continued:

[S]ince the questions are not directed at eliciting information on prospective jurors' backgrounds, or any other information that might reveal bias, there is no need for the defendant and counsel to be present in order to scrutinize gestures and attitudes to ensure impartiality. We therefore conclude that Gribble did not have a federal or state constitutional right to be present with counsel when the court questioned the prospective jurors to determine whether to excuse or defer service of any under § 756.03.

Id. (internal citations omitted). Therefore, the Gribble court held that such questioning did not constitute "voir dire" within meaning of Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1). Id. ¶ 12. It noted that such questioning could be conducted by the clerk of court, and it concluded that the legislature could not have intended to require a defendant's presence when the judge or clerk was acting in an administrative capacity. *Id.* ¶ 18.

Administration of the oath to the jury venire is a similar administrative procedure. In administering the oath, courts are not ruling on bias or impartiality or parties' objections. They are performing in an administrative capacity. There is no reading of the evidence, no argument of counsel, and no colloquy between the judge and jury. Similarly, Lepsch could not have objected to the giving of the oath or gained any useful knowledge from observing the formality of having the jurors take the oath.

But Lepsch cites *Harris* for the proposition that when the administration of the oath to the jury venire occurs outside the presence of the defendant and his counsel, reversible error occurs. (Lepsch Br. 41.) The State disagrees.

"[D]eprivation of both the defendant's right to be present and to have counsel present during voir dire is reviewed on appeal for harmless error." *State v. Tulley*, 2001 WI App. 236, ¶ 7, 248 Wis. 2d 505, 635 N.W.2d 807. "Generally, an error is harmless if there is no reasonable possibility that it contributed to the conviction." *Id.* "A 'reasonable possibility' is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* "The burden of proof is on the beneficiary of the error to establish that the error was not prejudicial." *Id.*

In this case, Lepsch was not prejudiced by the administration of the oath to the jury venire outside of his presence.⁶ He could not have objected to the giving of the oath or gained any useful knowledge from observing the formality of having the jurors take the oath. Further, *Harris*

⁶ As indicated in footnote 1, *supra*, all jurors signed an oath on their questionnaire as well.

involved facts not present here: while the defendant and his counsel were not present, the circuit court had spoken at length with the entire venire, excusing several for cause but permitting others to serve on the jury that convicted Harris. 229 Wis. 2d at 835-36. *Harris* held that the circuit court's error was not harmless because the defendant and his counsel were not able to observe the responses of the jurors who remained on the panel and because the jurors who were not excused might have drawn negative inferences from Harris's absence. *Id.* at 844-45. But unlike *Harris*, in this case there is no allegation that the circuit court questioned or excused prospective jurors outside of Lepsch's presence.

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